IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CLENK: SUPPLINE COURT

JAN 13 19987

ELE SICLWHITE

Church Congressiv Cherk

CASE NO: 91,953 L.T. CASE NO: 96-2236

ART SILVESTRONE,

Petitioner,

vs.

MARC Z. EDELL, BUDD, LARDNER, et al.,

Respondents.

# **PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION**

SUMMERS, ANTHONY & VARGAS 28001 Chagrin Blvd., Suite 300 Cleveland, Ohio 44122-4425 and BARRETT, CHAPMAN & RUTA, P.A. 255 S. Orange Avenue, Suite 750 P. O. Box 533983 Orlando, FL 32853-3983 and CARUSO, BURLINGTON, BOHN & COMPIANI, P.A. Suite 3-A/Barristers Bldg. 1615 Forum Place West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Tel: (561) 686-8010 Attorneys for Petitioner

####

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Art Silvestrone filed a federal antitrust lawsuit. The jury returned a verdict finding in his favor on February 27, 1990, but awarding him a minimal amount of damages (A1-2). The other plaintiff in the case filed post-trial motions, but Silvestrone did not, although his attorney's Motion for Attorney's Fees was pending post-trial (A2). Because of these motions, a Final Judgment on the jury verdict and for attorney's fees was not entered for Silvestrone until February 4, 1992, almost two years after the verdict (A2).

Silvestrone did not appeal the Final Judgment entered in the antitrust lawsuit. However, within two years of entry of that judgment, Silvestrone filed a legal malpractice action against the attorney who had represented him in that lawsuit (A1-2). The trial court granted Summary Judgment to the defendant-attorney in the legal malpractice action, finding that the two year statute of limitations ran from the entry of the verdict, rather than the Final Judgment, in the antitrust lawsuit (A2). That meant Silvestrone had only 23 days <u>after</u> entry of that judgment to sue his attorney. It also meant that the statute of limitations expired 7 days <u>before</u> expiration of the 30-day period to appeal the Final Judgment.

The Fifth District affirmed concluding that since Silvestrone had not appealed the Final Judgment in the antitrust lawsuit, "when the jury returned its verdict the statute of limitations started running at that time" (A3). The Court's dissenting opinion concluded that the statute of limitations ran from entry of the Final Judgment under the facts of the

case and Florida case law, and also for public policy reasons because a conclusion otherwise constituted a virtual trap for the litigant (A5-10).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Fifth District's opinion creates an express and direct conflict with the decisions of this Court and with other District Courts which hold that the statute of limitations for legal malpractice predicated on errors or omissions committed in the course of litigation does not begin to run until that litigation is concluded by Final Judgment, or an appeal if necessary. Under the Fifth District's ruling, entry of a verdict starts the statute of limitations running where no appeal is filed in the underlying litigation. That ruling resulted in the type anomaly that occurred here. With the verdict as the guidepost, the statute of limitations expired 23 days after the Final Judgment was entered, and 7 days before Silvestrone's time to appeal the Final Judgment had run. The Fifth District admitted that under established case law if an appeal is filed from the Final Judgment, the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the appeal process is concluded. However, because the Fifth District used the verdict, rather than the Final Judgment, as the starting point for the running of the statute of limitations, the statute expired on February 27, 1992. If an appeal had been filed thereafter up until the thirtieth day of the appeal period, or March 3, 1992, it would necessarily have to revive the already expired statute of limitations, which is impossible. This anomaly was occasioned by the Fifth District's use of entry of the verdict, rather than the Final Judgment, to begin the running

of the statute of limitations. The Fifth District's ruling directly and expressly conflicts with the other Florida appellate decisions cited herein, and this Court should exercise its jurisdiction to resolve that conflict.

۰.,

· •

#### **QUESTION PRESENTED**

THE FIFTH DISTRICT'S DECISION THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IN A LEGAL MALPRACTICE CASE BEGINS TO RUN FROM ENTRY OF VERDICT IN THE LITIGATION GIVING RISE TO THE LEGAL MALPRACTICE, WHERE NO APPEAL IS FILED IN THAT LITIGATION, DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY CONFLICTS WITH CASE LAW WHICH HOLDS THAT THE STATUTE BEGINS TO RUN FROM ENTRY OF FINAL JUDGMENT IN THE UNDERLYING LITIGATION

#### **ARGUMENT**

# A) <u>The Fifth District Misconstrued and Misapplied this Court's Opinion</u> in EMPLOYERS' FIRE INS. CO. v. CONTINENTAL INSURANCE CO., 326 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1976)

The Fifth District has announced "that when the jury returned its verdict, he [Silvestrone] had all the information necessary to establish his cause of action,...and the statute of limitations started running at that time" (A3). The court incorrectly came to the conclusion that that was what this Court held in EMPLOYERS' FIRE INS. CO. v. CONTINENTAL INS. CO., 326 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1976). The Fifth District's opinion presents an express and direct conflict with EMPLOYERS' FIRE because it accepts that

case as controlling precedent, but then attributes to it a patently erroneous and unfounded principle of law, PINKERTON-HAYS LUMBER CO. v. POPE, 127 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1961), and/or misapplied the law established by EMPLOYERS' FIRE, which likewise presents a direct and express conflict. WALE v. BARNES, 278 So.2d 601 (Fla. 1973).

٠.

• • •

EMPLOYERS' FIRE involved a bad faith lawsuit against an insurer for failure to defend its insured which resulted in a verdict and judgment against the insured. The issue was whether the statute of limitations on the bad faith lawsuit ran from the moment the judge signed the minute book entry of the verdict or whether it ran from the later entry of the final judgment against the insured. This court held that:

> ...we hold that the time period for measuring a statute of limitations commences at the time litigants' <u>liabilities or</u> <u>rights have been finally and fully adjudicated</u>. In general this will mean when the presiding judge or clerk records judgment for one party against the other in a specified amount after either a jury or non-jury trial. (emphasis added)

In McGURN v. SCOTT, 596 So.2d 1042, 1043 (Fla. 1992), this Court reiterated that it is the entry of a final judgment or final order which determines the "<u>rights and</u> <u>liabilities</u>" of parties with reference to the matters in controversy and leaves nothing of judicial character to be done.

A number of District Courts have ruled that the "finally and fully adjudicated" requirement of EMPLOYER'S FIRE INS. occurs when judgment is entered and the

litigation ends.<sup>1</sup> In GRISSON v. COMMERCIAL UNION INS. CO., 610 So.2d 1299, 1309 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), the First District interpreted "finally and fully adjudicated" as follows:

Ordinarily, the statutory time commences on the date when judgment was entered and the litigation has come to an end.

Likewise, cases dealing specifically with legal malpractice have held that the statute of limitations begins to run when the litigation giving rise to that cause of action is finally concluded by judgment. In ZAKAK v. NAPIER, 545 So.2d 380, 381 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), the Second District held that when a cause of action for legal malpractice is predicated on errors or omissions committed in the course of litigation, the statute of limitations does not begin to run until that litigation is concluded by final judgment, or if appealed, until a final appellate decision is rendered.<sup>2</sup> In SPIVEY v. TRADER, 620 So.2d 212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), the Fourth District also held that a legal malpractice

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>/Interestingly enough, in ELDRED v. REBER, 639 So.2d 1086 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), the Fifth District discussed the inception date of the statute of limitations in a litigational malpractice action where the underlying action had or had not been appealed. In the latter situation, the Fifth District in ELDRED interpreted the "finally and fully adjudicated" language in EMPLOYERS' FIRE INS. to "coincide with the definition of the term 'rendition'" in Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.020(g) which requires a final order. Obviously, the Fifth District's decision in ELDRED v. REBER conflicts with its decision in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>/The Second District prefaced its holding with "unless the facts of the case clearly show that the legal malpractice was or should have been discovered at an earlier date", citing to SAWYER v. EARLE, 541 So.2d 1232 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). This Court overruled SAWYER v. EARLE in PEAT, MARWICK, MITCHELL & CO. v. LANE, 565 So.2d 1323 (Fla. 1990).

action accrued, and the two-year legal malpractice statute of limitations began to run, when judgment was entered against the client in supplementary proceedings. Likewise, in WILKERSON v. STERNSTEIN, 558 So.2d 516 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), the First District held that the statute of limitations in a malpractice action did not begin to run until judgment was entered against the client. These cases conflict with the Fifth District's opinion in this case that entry of the verdict in the underlying litigation, rather than entry of the final judgment, began the running of the statute of limitations for legal malpractice.

• ',

•

# B) <u>The Fifth District's Opinion Likewise Directly and Expressly Conflicts</u> with Cases Holding that a Cause of Action for Legal Malpractice Does Not Accrue Until the Existence of Redressable Harm Has Been Established

In PEAT, MARWICK, MITCHELL & CO., v. LANE, 565 So.2d 1323, 1325 (Fla. 1990), this Court held that a cause of action for legal malpractice does not accrue until: (1) the existence of a redressable harm or injury has been established, and; (2) the injured party knows or should know of either the injury or the negligent act. <u>Both</u> factors are required in order for the limitations period to begin running. ZITRIN v. GLASER, 621 So.2d 748, 750 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). In BIERMAN v. MILLER, 639 So.2d 627, 628 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), the Third District held that so long as the underlying action giving rise to the legal malpractice has not been concluded, the legal malpractice action is premature because there is no redressable harm. Likewise, in ZUCKERMAN v.

RUDEN, BARNETT, McCLOSKEY, 670 So.2d 1050, 1051 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), the Third District acknowledged that the test for determining when a legal malpractice cause of action has occurred is based on the establishment of redressable harm, and then concluded that only when the underlying litigation giving rise to the malpractice action "has been entirely resolved will the statute of limitations on the malpractice action begin to run". And in ABBOTT v. FRIEDSAN, 682 So.2d 597, 599 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) fn.1, the Second District stated "…in Florida the statute of limitations for legal malpractice generally does not begin to run…until the legal proceeding which underlies the malpractice claims has been "finalized", by appeal if necessary".

1.

Under the above cases, "redressable harm" giving rise to a cause of action for legal malpractice is established when the underlying litigation in which the attorney's errors or omissions were committed occurred, is "entirely resolved", "concluded" or "finalized", and that does not occur until final judgment is entered. The Fifth District's ruling that the statute of limitations runs from entry of the jury's verdict is directly and expressly contrary to these cases.

# C) <u>The Fifth District's Opinion is Contrary to This Court's Ruling that</u> <u>Once a Claim Has Been Extinguished By the Statute of Limitations, the</u> <u>Claim Cannot Be Revived</u>

The Fifth District acknowledges that, if an appeal is filed, the statute of limitations for legal malpractice does not begin to run until the underlying lawsuit in which the claimed malpractice took place has been finally decided on appeal. EDWARDS v.

FORD, 279 So.2d 851 (Fla. 1973). The problem is that here, according to the Fifth District's ruling that the statute runs upon entry of the verdict, the statute expired on February 27, 1992, <u>before</u> the thirtieth day for filing an appeal (the last day was March 3, 1992). Therefore, under the Fifth District's ruling, an appeal would necessarily have to revive an already expired statute of limitations if EDWARDS v. FORD, <u>supra</u>, is to have any effect. This is impossible under IN RE ESTATE OF SMITH, 685 So.2d 1206 (Fla. 1996), where this Court has previously held that once a claim has been extinguished by the applicable statute of limitations, the claim cannot be revived because a constitutionally protected property right to be free from the claim has vested to the defendant. The effect of the Fifth District's decision creates an obvious conflict between EDWARDS v. FORD and IN RE ESTATE OF SMITH which needs to be resolved

• .

٠,

#### <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The conflict of decisions presents an important opportunity for the Court to clear up the existing conflict regarding when the statute of limitations runs in a legal malpractice case, where no appeal is filed in the underlying litigation giving rise to the legal malpractice cause of action. The Fifth District held that the statute of limitations runs from the entry of the verdict, whereas this Court and other Florida intermediate appellate courts have held that the statute runs from entry of the final judgment in the underlying litigation. The Court should resolve this conflict to add certainty and uniformity in the law for the benefit of both litigants and attorneys.

#### **<u>CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE</u>**

I HEREBY CERTIFY a true copy of the foregoing was furnished by mail this <u>12th</u> day of JANUARY, 1998 to: DARRYL M. BLOODWORTH, ESQ., P. O. Box 2346, Orlando, FL 32802.

> SUMMERS, ANTHONY & VARGAS 28001 Chagrin Blvd., Suite 300 Cleveland, Ohio 44122-4425 and BARRETT, CHAPMAN & RUTA, P.A. 255 S. Orange Avenue, Suite 750 P. O. Box 533983 Orlando, FL 32853-3983 and CARUSO, BURLINGTON, BOHN & COMPIANI, P.A. Suite 3-A/Barristers Bldg. 1615 Forum Place West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Tel: (561) 686-8010 Attorneys for Petitioner

BY: Ednad Carris

EDNA L. CARUSO FL BAR NO. 126509

SILVESTRONE\SCT\BRIEF.JUR\PSS

٢.,