E	\mathbf{D}
and a second second	SID	á.	Ł	инте	
	FEB		5	1998	2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT

CASE NO: 91,953 Chief Deperty Clerk L.T. CASE NO: 96-2236

ART SILVESTRONE,

Petitioner,

vs.

MARC Z. EDELL, BUDD, LARDNER, et al.,

Respondents.

JURISDICTION BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

DARRYL M. BLOODWORTH Florida Bar Number: 141258 NICHOLE M. MOONEY Florida Bar Number: 057908 DEAN, MEAD, EGERTON, BLOODWORTH, CAPOUANO & BOZARTH, P.A. P.O. Box 2346 Orlando, Florida 32802-2346 Phone: 407/841-1200

TABLE OF CONTENTS

 ${\bf r}^{t}$

3

I.	<u>STAT</u>	EMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 1
II.	<u>SUMN</u>	<u>IARY OF THE ARGUMENT</u> 2
III.	<u>LEGA</u>	<u>L ARGUMENT</u>
	А.	<u>There is no conflict between the Fifth District's opinion</u> and this Court's opinion in Employers' Fire or like cases
	В.	<u>The Fifth District's opinion does not conflict with cases holding there</u> is no legal malpractice action until redressable harm is established 7
	C.	The Fifth District's opinion does not conflict with cases holding that a cause of action cannot be revived by appeal
<u>CONC</u>	CLUSIC	<u>DN</u> 10
<u>CERT</u>	<u>'IFICA'</u>	<u>TE OF SERVICE</u>

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS.

Respondents agree with and adopt Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts except as follows. Although Petitioner was victorious at trial and was awarded treble damages as well as attorneys' fees, he was unhappy with the result of the trial. Petitioner believed that Respondents committed malpractice during the course of the trial, regarding the issue of damages.¹ Petitioner knew of the alleged malpractice and believed he had been damaged when the jury returned its verdict. (A, 2).² During and immediately after trial, Petitioner consulted with a lawyer about bringing a malpractice action against Respondents. (A, 2). Furthermore, after the trial, Petitioner instructed Respondents not to move for additur or new trial, and not to appeal. (A,2). These were the only actions which might have corrected the alleged negligence and thereby delayed the statute of limitations. (A, 2). Petitioner's only post trial motions related to recovery of attorneys' fees.³ The motions for attorneys' fees and the post trial motions of the other plaintiff, Glenn Teal, delayed the entry of the final judgment for approximately two years after the jury's verdict. (A, 2).

The Fifth District held that in this case the statute of limitations began to run on Petitioner's malpractice claim when he knew of his alleged injury and instructed Respondents not to pursue any actions which might remedy that injury. (A, 3). Petitioner admitted he was aware of the facts giving rise to his claim for legal malpractice at the conclusion of the underlying

¹Specifically, Petitioner believed Respondents should have requested more damages at trial and hired an economist as an expert, even though he acknowledged that no economist could predict his damages.

²Respondents will refer to citations in Petitioner's Appendix attached to Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction. Such citations will be designated as "(A, p. #)."

³The issue of attorneys' fees was not part of Petitioner's claim for malpractice.

federal court trial. (A, 2-3). Indeed, he sought legal advice about his claim. Nevertheless, Petitioner did not bring his legal malpractice claim for over three years after he discovered it.

The trial court granted summary judgment because the statute of limitations had run before Petitioner filed his malpractice complaint. The Fifth District affirmed, finding that Petitioner sued upon specific acts of alleged malpractice which occurred before and during trial, and of which Petitioner had full knowledge. (A, 2). Judge Sharp dissented, and concluded that there should be a bright line rule that the statute of limitations does not start to run until the entry of final judgment. (A, 9).

II. <u>SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT</u>.

There is no conflict between the Fifth District's opinion in this case and decisions of this Court or other district courts. The Fifth District's opinion was based upon the specific facts in this case. It ruled that the statute of limitations on Petitioner's legal malpractice claim started to run upon entry of the jury's verdict because Petitioner then knew or should have known of his cause of action, and redressable harm existed.

The Fifth District properly interpreted and applied this Court's decisions to the facts at hand. Following opinions of this Court, the Fifth District refused to impose a bright line rule which would always require entry of final judgment or decision on appeal before the statute of limitations for legal malpractice actions begins to run. Further, the Fifth District recognized that under the peculiar facts presented, redressable harm was established at the time of the jury's verdict. Petitioner precluded any act which might cure the damage which allegedly resulted from Respondents' alleged malpractice before and during trial. The Fifth District recognized that Petitioner, by his own acts, thereby precluded any action which might delay the establishment

of redressable harm and, thus, the running of the statute of limitations. Finally, although Petitioner argues that the statute of limitations period expired before the appeal period expired under the Fifth District's opinion, the fact is that no appeal could have been taken based on Petitioner's own actions. Reviewing these facts, the Fifth District determined that Petitioner's cause of action accrued on the date of the jury's verdict, when he had knowledge of his alleged injury. Under the language of the statute, the limitations period began to run at that time.

Based upon the facts of this case there is no direct or express conflict with either this Court's decisions or the decisions of other Florida District Courts of Appeal. Therefore, this Court does not have jurisdiction.

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT.

A. <u>There is no conflict between the Fifth District's opinion</u> and this Court's opinion in Employers' Fire.

Petitioner first argues that the Fifth District misconstrued and misapplied this Court's opinion in <u>Employers' Fire Ins. Co. v. Continental Ins. Co.</u>, 326 So. 2d 177 (Fla. 1976). However, it is Petitioner who ascribes an incorrect interpretation of the <u>Employers' Fire</u> case to the Fifth District's opinion.

The Florida Legislature determined that the statute of limitations for a legal malpractice action is two years and "the period of limitations shall run from the time the cause of action is <u>discovered or should have been discovered</u> with the exercise of due diligence." Fla. <u>Stat.</u> § 95.11(4) (1997) (emphasis added). As of the date of the jury's verdict in the federal court trial, Petitioner knew of the alleged acts of malpractice and his alleged damages. He consulted an attorney regarding a malpractice claim both during and immediately after the trial. Petitioner also instructed Respondents not to take any action, including an appeal, which might cure or

mitigate the consequences of the alleged malpractice. Petitioner thereby precluded the only acts

which could have delayed the commencement of the statute of limitations.

In Employers' Fire, the Supreme Court specifically addressed the question of when

the statute of limitations begins to run where there is no appeal.

...[W]e hold that the time period for measuring a statute of limitations commences at the time a litigant's liabilities or rights have been finally and fully adjudicated. In general this will mean when the presiding judge or clerk records judgment for one party against the other in a specified amount after either a jury or non-jury trial. In these cases neither the signing of a minute book nor the signing of a document of final judgment are relevant to the liability of one party to the other for a specified amount. The fact of liability can be established for purposes of a limitations defense irrespective of the date on which the minute book entry or the judgment document is signed.

Employers' Fire, 326 So. 2d at 181 (emphasis added). The Court also said, as noted in the Fifth

District's opinion:

To allow that time period to be expanded by the interval between a final adjudication of liability containing all the information necessary to establish the enforceable right, and the court's execution of a formal piece of paper called final judgment, would be to extend the statutes unnecessarily by nonuniform lengths of time.

Id. By this language, this Court specifically recognized that the entry of a final judgment is not necessary to begin the running of the statute of limitations.

Petitioner requests that this Court establish a bright line, wooden rule that no claim for legal malpractice may accrue before the entry of the final judgment. Petitioner argues that this must be the rule even where there has been an adjudication of liability but entry of final judgment is delayed. However, such a rule is contrary to the statute itself which provides that the limitations period begins to run when the plaintiff <u>knew or should have known</u> of the cause of action. <u>Fla. Stat.</u> § 95.11(4). Indeed, this Court specifically rejected such a bright line rule in <u>Employers' Fire</u>, refusing to require that a final judgment be entered before the limitations period begins to run.

As the Fifth District noted, once the jury returned its verdict and Petitioner directed Respondents not to seek additur, move for a new trial, or file an appeal, Petitioner had all the information necessary to suc Respondents. The statute of limitations began to run at that time. (A, 3).⁴ To delay the commencement of the statute of limitations under the facts of this case until entry of final judgment would be to directly contravene this Court's rejection of the bright line rule. The Fifth District did not misapply or misinterpret Employers' Fire.

Petitioner also relies on <u>McGurn v. Scott</u>, 596 So. 2d 1042, 1043 (Fla. 1992) for the proposition that only a final judgment or final order determines the rights and liabilities of a party. <u>McGurn</u> does not even address the statute of limitations issue. Further, <u>McGurn</u> found that the issue of costs and attorneys' fees may be adjudicated after final judgment and that the reservation of jurisdiction to award costs or attorneys' fees does not affect the finality of an underlying judgment. <u>Id.</u> at 1044. Thus, <u>McGurn</u> does not support Petitioner's theory.⁵

⁴In fact, if Petitioner had brought this malpractice claim in 1990 or 1991, Respondents could not have claimed that the suit was premature. The cause of action accrued when the jury's verdict was rendered and Petitioner knew of the alleged malpractice. <u>See Edwards v. Ford</u>, 279 So. 2d 851 (Fla. 1973) (notice or knowledge by a client that a cause of action has accrued triggers the statute of limitations for legal malpractice).

⁵ Petitioner also cites <u>Grissom v. Commercial Union Ins. Co.</u>, 610 So. 2d 1299 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) for the proposition that a final judgment is necessary in order for a case to be "finally and fully adjudicated." This case does not address legal malpractice. However, as Petitioner notes, the court stated, "<u>Ordinarily</u>, the statutory time commences on the date when judgment was entered and the litigation has come to an end." <u>Id.</u> at 1309. According to the facts on the record, this is not the ordinary case.

Likewise, the cases which Petitioner cites for the proposition that the statute of limitations for legal malpractice begins to run only when the litigation is concluded by final judgment are inapplicable. For example, in Zakak v. Broida & Napier, P.A., 545 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), there was no jury verdict awarding damages; rather, there was a dispute over the attorney's authority to settle the case. In the present case, Petitioner's alleged damages resulted from the entry of the jury's verdict, yet Petitioner precluded any actions which might cure the alleged damage. In addition, even the Zakak court acknowledged that the limitations period in a legal malpractice action begins to run upon entry of final judgment or an appellate decision, "Unless the facts of the case clearly show that the legal malpractice was or should have been discovered at an earlier date..." Zakak, 545 So. 2d at 381 (citing Sawyer v, Earle, 541 So. 2d 1232 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989)) (emphasis added).⁶

Similarly, <u>Spivey v. Trader</u>, 620 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), and <u>Wilkerson</u> <u>v. Sternstein</u>, 558 So. 2d 516 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) do not address situations similar to the instant action. As noted by the Fifth District, Petitioner was not suing on the final judgment, but on "specific acts of alleged malpractice, which <u>to his knowledge</u>, occurred long before the entry of the final judgment." (A, 2) (emphasis added). By his own admission, Petitioner knew of the alleged malpractice during and immediately after the trial and consulted a lawyer regarding a malpractice claim. Clearly, Petitioner could have filed his malpractice action shortly after the jury's verdict because the verdict resulted in his alleged damages and concluded all judicial labor

⁶ <u>Sawyer v. Earle</u> was disapproved by <u>Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. v. Lane</u>, 565 So. 2d 1323 (Fla. 1990) to the extent <u>Sawyer</u> conflicted with that decision. However, the <u>Peat, Marwick</u> Court distinguished <u>Sawyer</u>, noting that in that case the client understood and believed that his representation was not proper at an earlier stage when he dismissed his lawyer, whereas in <u>Peat, Marwick</u>, the Lanes believed that their accountant's advice was correct and proceeded upon that advice. <u>Id.</u> at 1327.

to be done with respect to his alleged damages.⁷ Based on these undisputed facts, this case does not conflict with other district court opinions. The Fifth District properly determined, in accord with <u>Employers' Fire</u>, that the statute of limitations began to run from the time the jury verdict allegedly creating Petitioner's damages was rendered. Because no conflict exists, this Court does not have jurisdiction over this issue.

B. <u>The Fifth District's opinion does not conflict with cases holding there</u> is no legal malpractice action until redressable harm is established.

Petitioner also relies on <u>Peat. Marwick</u>, which held that a cause of action for malpractice does not accrue until the existence of redressable harm or injury has been established and the injured party knows or should know of the injury or negligent act. No conflict between this opinion and <u>Peat. Marwick</u> exists.

In <u>Peat, Marwick</u> an appeal was taken. The issue in that case was whether the injury occurred when the Internal Revenue Service challenged the Lane's tax returns, or when the tax court ruled on the appeal. Unlike <u>Peat, Marwick</u>, Petitioner in the present case knew of the alleged injury at the time of the jury's verdict. As noted above, <u>Peat, Marwick</u> distinguished <u>Sawyer v, Earle</u> on these very grounds. Petitioner's redressable harm was established by the jury's verdict because he precluded every motion or appeal which might cure his alleged injury, and knew of his actual harm.⁸ In <u>Peat, Marwick</u>, however, the clients thought their accountant's

⁷Although Petitioner's damages were trebled, the judge has no discretion in trebling the jury verdict's award; once the jury verdict is rendered, the damages are automatically trebled under the applicable antitrust law. See 15 U.S.C. § 15(a); Fla. Stat. § 542.22(1). Thus, the act of trebling damages was simply a ministerial act and did not affect the finality of the judgment.

⁸Florida law is clear that a plaintiff must only know of the facts giving rise to a cause of action for legal malpractice and have <u>some</u> damages in order to trigger the statute of limitations. It is not necessary for the plaintiff to know the full extent of his damages. <u>See Edwards v. Ford</u>, 279 So. 2d 851 (Fla. 1973); <u>Throneburg v. Boose</u>, <u>Casey</u>, <u>Ciklin</u>, <u>Lubitz</u>, <u>Marteno</u>, <u>McBane &</u>

advice was correct and appealed; they had no knowledge of actual harm. Thus, <u>Peat, Marwick</u> does not address facts similar to this case and does not conflict with the Fifth District's ruling.

Likewise, the other cases relied upon by Petitioner are not in conflict with the instant case. For example, in Zuckerman v. Ruden, Barnett, McClosky, Smith, Schuster & Russell, P.A., 670 So. 2d 1050 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), Zuckerman sued the Ruden, Barnett firm based on possible malpractice stemming from a problematic foreclosure action. However, Zuckerman could not establish redressable harm until the foreclosure action was resolved, and therefore his action was not barred by the statute of limitations. Similarly, in Bierman v. Miller, 639 So. 2d 627 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), Miller sued Bierman and his law firm for alleged negligence in drafting a severance agreement. However, the validity of the agreement was being litigated at the time the malpractice action was premature.

Here, however, nothing remained to be resolved after the jury's verdict. The only actions which could have changed Petitioner's alleged harm were actions which he specifically prohibited. Therefore, redressable harm was established upon entry of the jury verdict. No conflict exists.

C. The Fifth District's opinion does not conflict with cases holding that a cause of action cannot be revived by appeal.

Finally, Petitioner argues that the Fifth District's decision creates an obvious conflict with Edwards v. Ford and In re: Estate of Smith. However, Petitioner's own statement acknowledges that the delay of the statute of limitations by appeal applies only "if an appeal is filed." (Petitioner's Brief, 8); see Edwards v. Ford, 279 So. 2d 851 (Fla. 1973).

O'Connell, P.A., 659 So. 2d 1134, 1136 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995).

Petitioner argues that if the statute began to run before the final judgment was entered, then the limitations period for the legal malpractice action expired before the time for filing an appeal on the jury's verdict expired. Therefore, Petitioner argues, the Fifth District's ruling would necessarily require an appeal to revive the already expired cause of action, contravening <u>In re: Estate of Smith</u>, 685 So. 2d 1206 (Fla. 1996). However, the Fifth District addressed this argument.

> But [Petitioner's] problem is that he elected not to appeal and so instructed his lawyer. Even though [Petitioner] could have changed his mind and elected to appeal up until thirty days after the final judgment was finally entered, that does not toll the running of the statute. The fact is that he did not change his mind and no appeal was ever filed. The only reason for delaying the action until after the appeal is that the offending judgment might be reversed on appeal and the client would, therefore, suffer no damages. But [Petitioner] assured his continuing injury in this case by directing his attorney not to seek an additur, not to request a new trial, and not to appeal.

(A, 2-3) (emphasis added).

The Fifth District's opinion is not in conflict with either Edwards or In re: Estate of Smith. This Court has specifically noted that the event which causes the statute of limitations to begin to run is not necessarily the same as the event which commences the time to file an appeal. Employers' Fire, 326 So. 2d at 181. By his own actions Petitioner precluded any appeal and thereby established his redressable harm as of the date of the jury's verdict. The fact that the statute of limitations <u>could</u> have expired before the time for appeal expired is not relevant where the facts of this case establish that no appeal was taken or would be taken. Furthermore, in Employers' Fire this Court plainly stated that to expand the statute of limitations period by the interval between the final adjudication of liability and the final judgment would be to extend the statute <u>unnecessarily</u> by nonuniform lengths of time. <u>Employers' Fire</u>, 326 So. 2d at 181. The Fifth District complied with this Court's ruling in <u>Employers' Fire</u>; it recognized that the only reason for delaying the action until final judgment or a decision on appeal is so that the offending judgment might be reversed and cure the client's alleged damages. <u>See also Drake v. Simmons</u>, 583 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). Where this is not the case, such as here, there is no reason for the delay.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner disregards the peculiar facts of this case and attempts to manufacture a conflict with Florida law in order to establish jurisdiction for this Court. Petitioner knew of his claim as of the date of the jury's verdict, consulted a malpractice attorney, but did nothing to pursue it for over three years. He instructed Respondents not to take any action which could possibly have cured the alleged malpractice. Petitioner should not now be able to expand the two year statute of limitations period established by the Florida Legislature and Florida case law. For these reasons, there is no conflict to be resolved, no break in the uniformity of the case law regarding the statute of limitations in legal malpractice actions, and this Court is without jurisdiction.